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  Attention of the people of Maine has frequently been called to the so called wild lands of the State. It is a matter of great importance and one upon which from time to time much has been written.




  —Forest Commissioner Edgar E. Ring, 1908




  It’s a tale of neglect of responsibility by some state officials and of extraordinary dedication by others. It’s a saga that had its beginnings with the first land grants by English kings three centuries ago—a saga that will largely be played out by the end of summer. It’s the story of Maine’s public lots.




  —Bob Cummings, Maine Sunday Telegram, June 4, 1984




  



  
Prologue This Land Is Our Land (May 4, 1982)





  Governor Joseph E. Brennan’s words landed like the proverbial tree falling in an uninhabited forest. Which he didn’t expect, addressing as he was a more or less full house.




  “Welcome, fellow Democrats.”




  It was a ploy the Maine governor sometimes used to warm up an uncertain crowd. Coming from the leader of the state’s Democratic Party and said with a smile, the salutation could be counted on to break the ice, add a little humor, and—at chambers of commerce, for instance—it usually got a laugh. Today, though, the laughs were few and strained. “Stone-faced” was how one person recalled the general response. The audience was not amused.




  That they were very likely overwhelmingly Republican wasn’t the cause of the icy politeness that met the governor’s greeting. The two dozen or so men in the audience were the chiefs of the paper and timber companies of Maine. They were all at the Blaine House—the governor’s mansion—by personal invitation, and they had an uneasy suspicion why.




  Nine years before, in 1973, representatives of Maine’s forest products industry—two paper companies and three private landowners, most of them now sitting in the Blaine House—had filed suit against the state. The state had promptly countersued. In dispute was the wood harvested on certain publicly owned lands, around 320,000 acres, in fact. The paper and timber companies had been cutting them for a hundred years or more without, in the view of Maine’s attorney general, any legal right to do so for most of that time.




  No one denied that the lands belonged to the state. Since the days when Maine was a largely wild and unsettled part of Massachusetts, whenever a township from the public domain was sold to a private entity, the law required the state to reserve a part of the land.1 The general assumption was that in private hands, the township would soon bring forth a community, at which point these “Public Reserved Lands” would be handed over to the new town to provide for its religious and educational needs. When Maine became a state in 1820, Massachusetts insisted that the law be incorporated into its constitution. (Soon after statehood, by mutual agreement, support for church and minister was dropped, and the benefits were earmarked for the schools.)




  As for the timber growing on the Public Reserved Lands, again, no one denied that the legislature had sold the rights to harvest it long ago. When settlement failed to take root in the northern half of the state, these scattered faraway lots—mostly a thousand acres each—had become an invitation to timber thieves and squatters, which brought the additional risk of fire. Without the resources to watch over the forests—and prohibited by its constitution from selling the land—the government’s reasonable solution was to sell the timber growing there before it was lost and let the lumber companies take care of the trespassers.




  The legal question boiled down to this: Did the sale include all future forest growth, or had Maine sold the right to cut trees growing at the time of the sale only?




  The case had been a contentious rollercoaster of a ride. When the forest companies prevailed in superior court, the state appealed. At the end of August 1981, Maine’s Supreme Judicial Court—universally referred to as the “Law Court”—overturned the lower-court ruling and found in favor of the attorney general’s position. Today’s meeting had been called by the governor in anticipation of the conclusion of this legal battle. For the landowners, it promised to be a day of reckoning, likely expensive and painful. Since the court’s decision, officials from the State Planning Office and Department of Conservation had been busy crafting proposals for compensation for a century of timber trespass.




  David Carlisle and his father, George, president of the forest management firm of Prentiss & Carlisle, didn’t know exactly what to expect. They had arrived with Brad Wellman, the head of Seven Islands Land Company, which managed nearly a million acres—over 5 percent of the state’s forest—for the descendants of David Pingree, a Salem shipping magnate who had started buying forestland around 1840. The three men could hazard a guess at the meeting’s agenda. How it might unfold was another matter.




  By virtue of their position as captains of its most important industry, the Carlisles, Wellman, and the others present were among Maine’s most powerful citizens. They were the backbone of the state’s social, economic, and political fabric. Bangor, the onetime lumber capital of the world, was their stomping ground. It was there they held their meetings until their lawyers advised against it on antitrust grounds. Augusta, the state capital, had never seen such a gathering before.




  The Blaine House is an impressive white Federal-period building that sits amid neatly trimmed lawns. On its steps, Richard Barringer, director of the State Planning Office, waited for the meeting to begin, meanwhile enjoying the scents and sounds of a delightful May day. The air was full of the promise of summer. For Barringer, it was full of something else as well: a sense of “great pith and moment,” which also brought with it a sense of trepidation. “Will they show up?” Brennan had asked him. Now, as he watched the governor’s guests arrive, it dawned on him that this was a truly extraordinary moment in Maine’s history.




  It was also unprecedented that the governor would consider doing what his natural resource advisors had recommended. His demand of these corporate titans was going to be very aggressive and, in their eyes, even outrageous. But Barringer knew it was Maine’s last, best chance to enlarge its public domain, and to do so with the best land possible. This was 1982. Acquiring land for conservation and recreation would not become state policy—in the form of the Land for Maine’s Future program—for another five years.




  Inside the Blaine House, the distinguished invitees were assembled in the State Reception Room. Nobody had declined the governor’s invitation, and the space was not ideal for an assembly of this size. To the Carlisles, it felt like two or three rooms put together railroad style. In fact, it had been two rooms, until they were merged by James G. Blaine—speaker, U.S. senator, secretary of state, and, as presidential candidate, branded the “continental liar from the state of Maine”—who lived there from 1862 until his death thirty-one years later. Its long elegant proportions and antique furnishings may have made it a perfect venue for parties to entertain the late-nineteenth-century Republican elite. On this occasion, however, with folding chairs replacing the Chippendale and the audience tucked about and behind the room’s pillars and partitions, Governor Brennan, up front at his podium, seemed a long way off. The younger Carlisle found the setup awkward, and the steel chairs a further discomfort. This was clearly not going to be a meeting so much as a pronouncement. Still, it was the governor’s house, which gave the event enough gravitas to outweigh the uncomfortable arrangements.




  Thirty-five years later David Carlisle could remember exactly where he was sitting. The mood in the room was cordial but tense, and he thought he detected grim looks on the faces of the governor’s staff, as well. Carlisle guessed that he and his colleagues were not the only ones feeling on edge. Doubtless wondering what the landowners’ reaction to his proposal would be, even the governor had felt the need to lighten the mood. He was somewhat unsettled when his effort fell flat (“I’ve used that line about fellow Democrats a hundred times, and always got a good response,” Brennan said afterwards). It was no wonder his officials seemed a trifle ill at ease. This was high-stakes poker, as Barringer was all too aware, and nothing to joke about. Like lawyers going into the trial of their career, a somber demeanor was all that was appropriate.




  Conservation Commissioner Richard Anderson had arrived early to make sure the room was set up properly and to put up large maps to accompany the governor’s remarks. Attorney Martin Wilk, who had seen the case through the courts practically from the start, was making last-minute adjustments to the podium from which Governor Brennan would speak. His immediate worry was that the three-ring binder containing the notes he had prepared for the governor might slide off the lectern. Annee Tara, Anderson’s deputy, was the only woman in the room. She assumed that the members of the audience were crusty old guys who weren’t going to show their feelings readily.




  At two o’clock, Governor Brennan started speaking. He summarized the history of the case, which the state had won. The verdict, however, had said nothing about damages. Rather than go back to court, he said, he would prefer to settle all claims once and for all, through negotiation. The usual penalty for timber trespass was treble damages; but, said the governor, he was not going to seek financial restitution. Anderson and Barringer had come up with a more creative plan: to ask for land, of which the companies had more than enough, instead.




  Maine would seek reparations on a two-acre-for-one basis. At the same time, hundreds of inconsequential thousand-acre plots, scattered all across the state, would be exchanged and consolidated into blocks of a more meaningful and manageable size. As they were, the Public Lots were of little use to the public since nobody knew they were there, nor how to reach them. For the landowners and forest managers, the governor’s approach offered the advantage of getting the state out of their hair once and for all. It was his hope that they would work with him in good faith toward a solution that would be acceptable and beneficial all around.




  At this point Governor Brennan produced a booklet, handsomely printed like a company annual report and specially made up for the meeting. It contained maps of all the ownerships represented in the room, company by company, with the Public Lots highlighted wherever they were marked on the ground. On the same maps were marked, company by company, the specific lands that the state was asking for in settlement. It was a wish list of some of the most spectacular natural places in Maine.




  As the booklets were being passed out, one for each company, Brennan announced that a triumvirate—troika was perhaps a better word, some of the landowners may have thought—would handle the negotiations on the state’s behalf. They were the same officials who had chosen the places the state hoped to acquire: Barringer, Anderson, and Tara.




  A deathly hush fell over the State Reception Room. The general reaction was perhaps most intensely expressed by George Carlisle. He was so aggravated and shocked, several people said, he almost fell off his chair. He and his son were horrified at being asked for what they considered “premiums,” the additional value that the state was demanding above a straight exchange of the lots themselves. Nobody could believe what the governor was proposing.




  But nobody stormed out. There were a few questions along the lines of “where do we go from here?” Most of the audience was too busy looking at the materials to see which of their properties were on the list. Someone mentioned horse-trading. “Yeah,” said the man from J.D. Irving. “And I know which part of the horse we’ll be getting.” As the meeting adjourned, Richard Anderson watched them file out in stunned silence as if it had been the funeral of a beloved.




  “This had never happened to them before,” Annee Tara realized. “Nobody knew what was coming, what it was going to be like—and they were completely taken aback.” She thought they were surprised at how well organized and intent the governor had been. “So they took their booklets and went home and probably had a drink along the way.”




  As they got up to leave, the landowners had one more immediate concern. In his remarks, Governor Brennan had suggested it would be in everybody’s best interest to keep the negotiations confidential, and there had been no announcement in advance of the meeting. All the same, both Carlisles at least had a sneaking feeling that the press might be waiting for them on the Blaine House steps, wanting to know what they were going to do, and how they might respond. Such fears were unfounded. The meeting was never mentioned in the newspapers.




  Over the next three years, the State of Maine took title to over four hundred thousand acres of what would become some of its most cherished natural areas. On the map, they now appear as large green blocks, with names like Deboullie Township, Sugar Island in Moosehead Lake, Duck Lake, Round Pond, and Bigelow Preserve—a far cry from the little dots that previously marked the Public Lots, scattered across the map of Maine’s Unorganized Territories like a case of the chickenpox.




  How Maine lost and regained this magnificent heritage is an epic tale that began two hundred and more years ago with the hapless—and often ethically questionable—land deals of the eighteenth century.


  







  



  
PART I



  







  



  Chapter One




  “Exhaustless Merchandize” (1783–1795)




  On May 23, 1759, Brigadier General Samuel Waldo, hero of the siege of Louisbourg, stepped ashore near what is now Brewer on the Penobscot River. With an expansive gesture embracing all that the eye could see, he exclaimed, “Here is my bound[ary].” With that, he “instantly fell dead, of an apoplexy,” probably a stroke.2




  Already sixty-three years of age, Waldo had accompanied his friend Thomas Pownall, governor of Massachusetts Bay, on an expedition to deal with the Indians of the region. The French and Indian War was at its height, and the Penobscot tribe had been supporting Great Britain’s enemies. Determined to check them, Pownall sent natives ahead with an uncompromising challenge to the sachems: “I am come to build a fort at Penobscot, and will make the land English. I am able to do it . . . and I will do it.”3




  Pownall was quite prepared to fight the “People of Penobscot,” if necessary; he had four hundred soldiers with him. “I seek not their favour nor fear them, for they can do me neither good nor harm,” wrote the governor, before offering the Indians the protection of the fort he was planning to build if they “become English.”




  The fort, to be constructed at the mouth of the river, was of particular interest to Brigadier General Waldo. The Penobscot River formed the eastern boundary of a tract of more than half a million acres that had made him the most important of the great land proprietors in His Majesty’s District of Maine. Waldo’s ownership stretched west to the Muscungus River and extended from the coast north to a line, which had never been surveyed, that “embraced a territory equal to thirty miles square.” It was now called the Waldo Patent, and he had acquired most of it not in exchange for money, but as a reward from a consortium of businessmen of which he was a member (as was the president of Harvard College) for services rendered.




  A century-old claim that had descended to these men was now in jeopardy. George II had inadvertently awarded the same land to an overzealous surveyor of the king’s woods (the man responsible for safeguarding—with the “King’s Broad Arrow”—pine trees suitable as masts for the Royal Navy). Waldo was chosen to go to London to represent the consortium at the royal court, and when his tireless lobbying carried the day, its members gave him half the disputed land in gratitude.




  Waldo called his demesne Broad Bay and styled himself its Hereditary Lord. Those who came and settled for seven years “either in person or through a substitute,” he promised, would own their land forever, “without their having to make the slightest recompense, or pay any interest for it.” Soon forty families of the Protestant faith—a condition for accepting his offer—were installed, although it was said that Waldo had not done much for them since their arrival.




  In search of more settlers, particularly from Germany, Waldo printed a prospectus of “collected advices and regulations” in 1753. It advertised a healthy climate and a soil




 

    exceedingly fruitful, since the wood which grows there is mostly oak, beach, ash, maple, and the like, and it yields all manner of fruit as in Germany. . . . Also, there is much game in the woods, and many fish in the streams, and every one is permitted to hunt and fish.







  Besides a congenial climate and productive soil, new plantations would have their own churches and schools. “In every such district,” Waldo’s circular promised, “there shall be given to the church two hundred acres; to the first preacher settling among them, two hundred; to the school, two hundred.”




  Against all these blessings, however, Indian raids remained a persistent threat. A fort adjacent to his land would be a material selling point in attracting new settlers. With the same formidable energy that won him his property, Waldo had persuaded Governor Pownall to build one. As the first stop on their Penobscot expedition, they found a suitable site—“a crescent crowning elevation”4—at the mouth of the river.




  With construction of the fort begun, Pownall and his party sailed up the Penobscot as far as their ship, HMS St. George, could navigate. Among the governor’s effects was a lead plate on which he had had engraved: “May 23, 1759. Province of Massachusetts Bay, Penobscot, dominions of Great Britain. Possession confirmed by Thomas Pownall, Governor.” It was to take formal possession of the region in the king’s name that Pownall and Waldo had debarked.




  Undistracted by Waldo’s apoplectic demise, Governor Pownall proceeded to a spot above the falls and “did there hoist the King’s Colours which were saluted by the artillery at sunset.” The “Leaden Plate” was buried, as Pownall described it, beneath a “Large White Birch Tree, three large Trunks springing from ye one Root. The Tree is at the Top of a very high piked hill on ye East side ye River, about three miles above Marine Navigation.” Waldo’s body was then taken back to the fort and buried with full military honors. The chief mourner was the governor himself, and “upon the Interment of the Corps, the Guards fired three Vollies over the Grave,” reported the Boston Evening Post.5




  The efforts of General Waldo, wrote Maine’s second governor, William Williamson, a century later, “hastened the development of the Penobscot Valley by at least a generation. He found the Patent a wilderness; he left it containing ten flourishing plantations.” The Waldo Patent would soon become an object lesson on the risks of land speculation in the new Republic.




  As part of His Britannic Majesty’s colony of Massachusetts Bay, Maine was called the County of Yorkshire, after the great northern shire of the Old Country. It was “early a resort for those with but small regard for creed or church,” wrote the authors of the Federal Writers’ Project in Maine, A Guide ‘Down East.’6 What regard there was, according to author and journalist Colin Woodard’s The Lobster Coast, tended in the opposite direction to Puritan Boston. A century and a half of life on the frontier had honed a fierce strain of individualism in the inhabitants. To bring this “Wild East” more in the way of law and order, two counties, Cumberland and Lincoln, were hived off from the mother county in 1760 (and the “shire” docked from her name).7 All three stretched from the ocean north into the uncharted wildlands, covering a far larger area than do their namesakes today.




  Settlement was the goal, and the colonial authorities granted large tracts of these empty lands to syndicates of merchants and gentlemen (who were generally their social peers). In the beginning, these proprietors had been directly involved in the nuts and bolts of their villages, often raising families there. By the mid-eighteenth century, however, speculation more than civic purpose drove the land business. Proprietors’ shares were “hawked about for anyone who wanted to invest.”8




  To counter this trend, the government in Boston imposed conditions, when granting land to would-be proprietors, that fostered “improvement” of the wilderness, not just private profit: “60 Protestant families” per township had to be settled within six years. Each family was to have a house, “none to be less than eighteen feet square, and seven feet stud,” and together, they must put three hundred acres under cultivation. The plans for a settlement by Sir Francis Bernard, the last confirmed colonial governor of Massachusetts Bay, were exemplary.9 He had received a grant for Mount Desert Island—recently relieved of the French—as a reward for his distinguished service to the colony.10




  Here Sir Francis hoped to lay out a town around Southwest Harbor. Starting at the bay’s head, lots of five acres were to be counted off on either side, ten at a time, each one facing the water. Besides their home lot, the first sixty settlers would be granted an outlying lot of fifteen acres, and if possible, an additional “five acres of salt meadow to lie in common and to be mowed only and not pastured unless it lies high enough to bear cattle without hurting the land.”11 Of the ten-lot parcels, every other one was to be left ungranted. “In one of these sets of reserved ten lots, I propose to set out lots for a Meeting house and School,” wrote Sir Francis, and added that another “and one of the pleasantest sets (in the centre or otherwise) I shall reserve for a settlement of my own.”




  A revolution later, Massachusetts’ General Court would make reservation of land for public use the law, as it sought to sell—either for or in lieu of cash—as much of the District of Maine as it could, as quickly as possible, “for almost every conceivable purpose of trade.”12




  As the Commonwealth of Massachusetts began to enjoy a hard-won peace, it had under its jurisdiction approximately seventeen million acres in Maine, most of them uncharted. Governor Bernard had sent a party into the wilderness to map the Penobscot River in 1763. A dozen years later, Benedict Arnold (before his name became synonymous with traitor) hacked his way up the Kennebec in a heroic attempt to capture Quebec City for the Americans. Otherwise, away from the coastline, the “Eastern Lands” were terra incognita.




  To John Hancock, Massachusetts’ first governor, all this undeveloped real estate was just waiting to be turned into desperately needed funds for the new Commonwealth. The parlous financial condition in which it emerged from the revolution is described in poignant prose, all the more pleasant to find in an official report to Maine’s legislature. Forest Commissioner Austin Wilkins quoted verbatim from Moses Greenleaf’s 1829 Survey of Maine:




  

    . . . her people borne down with the weight of taxes—her treasury empty—her credit that of a bankrupt—her paper currency worth, in the market, scarcely 10 per cent of its normal value—her commerce next to nothing—her utmost exertions barely able to discharge the ordinary expenses of government, in time of peace.13







  Further taxation was out of the question. Governor Hancock urged his General Court to direct their search for revenue at the “exhaustless merchandize” to the northeast instead. The belief that the Eastern Lands were a commodity that could be parlayed into cash rested on some deeply ingrained assumptions. Ever since their discovery by Europeans, the main sources of information about the new territories had been promoters. In order to lure investors and settlers, they naturally tended to exaggerate the land’s attractions as a cornucopia. Confidence in Maine’s soils and climate as an agricultural blessing died hard as a result.




  At the same time, clearing the forest primeval to make way for a “garden of the north” was, to pious Puritans, a demonstration of moral worth. If virtue was less important to Mainers, there was still heroism in the yeoman working his own fields, an aspiration the colonists had fought Great Britain over. Conversely, state ownership of great swathes of land—the very definition of a colony and the loathed state of affairs in hierarchical Europe—was politically suspect. The republican ideal was to get land, lot by lot, into the hands of the people who would improve it. Once added to the tax rolls, those lots would raise revenue rather than cost the state for their stewardship.




  Republican ideals notwithstanding, land tenure in Massachusetts continued broadly to follow colonial models that gave government a say in where the wilderness could be cleared to its best advantage. Townships—standardized to an even square, six miles by six—were laid out as a grid on a map; how they sat on the actual landscape was left to future surveyors.14 From the township down to individual lots of fifty or a hundred acres within it, a regular, numbered plan allowed development to be systematically traced and the wilderness methodically pushed back.15




  That the growing community as well as the land be “improved,” lots for its future spiritual and educational needs were reserved in every township sold. Thus, a “Report on the petition” of one Samuel Freeman to settle four townships in 1785 stipulated the following:




 

    . . . four whole rights or sixty-fourth parts, for quantity and quality, in the division of the same, for the following purposes, viz. one for the first settled minister, his heirs and assigns forever; one for the use of the ministry; one to and for the future appropriation of government, and one for the use of a grammar school forever.







  Public Lots were conceived as a civic commitment to the twin pillars of Puritan aspiration: the Protestant religion and education. They were dedicated to the two most important requisites for success in a fledgling state: revenue and settlement. At the time, they were at the heart of how a God-fearing Yankee society employed its divinely given natural endowments. The next step was to get a better idea of what the District of Maine’s seventeen million acres had to offer.




  Despite Governor Hancock’s dreams, Maine’s far-flung natural bounty was a source of headache as much as funds. The meaningful writ of the authorities had no way of extending to the distant lands, and “trespasses and illegal entries, possessions and encroachments” abounded. It was difficult even to tell the rightful claimants from squatters who had taken advantage of distance and the lack of civil order while the colony was fighting for its life. In 1781, the General Court empaneled a committee to identify as far as reasonably possible what the Commonwealth actually owned beyond the populated, well-explored districts around Boston. Its responsibilities would ultimately concentrate on managing the sale of the Eastern Lands, but at first the committee looked westward to the Berkshires rather than northeast to Maine.16 York, the eastern county nearest to Boston, was only added to the lands to be explored in July 1783.




  Soon surveys were being undertaken with a view to marketing the land, both by township (to proprietors) and by lot (to yeomen). These could be sold either at public auction or privately, whichever the commissioners decided was “most conducive to the public interest.” They were also to consider “what lands it may be necessary to reserve for the use of the commonwealth for timber and other public uses.”




  Taming the wilderness being in everyone’s best interest, the committee was directed to offer squatters the chance to purchase “their” land and to “settle and agree with all such who are disposed to settle and agree,” at a price the commissioners thought fit. Advertisements were placed in local newspapers to attract those who might avail themselves of “this instance of lenity in government.” Those who remained obdurate would be prosecuted.




  With Governor Hancock’s sights set on the Eastern Lands for badly needed revenue, lots were to be sold “for the most [the committee] can obtain in the public consolidated securities of this commonwealth.” The governor drew his confidence from the assumption that Maine’s population would continue to grow. Despite the Revolutionary War, it had jumped from thirty thousand to fifty thousand during the previous decade, mostly on the coastal plain, with settlement thinning out the farther north and east they went. With the lure of territories to the south and west to contend with, however, the committee was less sanguine. Its first report stressed the need for “preventing emigrations from this into other states, and accelerating the settlement of the lands belonging to this commonwealth.”17




  The first step was to expand or connect established settlements. An early example was the town of Fryeburg, flourishing on the rich soils of the Saco River some fifty miles inland. To tie it in with communities along the coast, the committee was instructed to lay out the intervening “unappropriated lands” into townships,




  

     . . . to be surveyed by a surveyor and chainman, under oath; a plan of each of which, with the contents and boundaries, the quality of the soil of each, the growth, goodness and kind of wood on each, its distance from any settlement, or navigable river, whether rocky, mountainous, plain, or abounding with brooks or streams.18







  With the addition of Cumberland and Lincoln counties to the committee’s responsibilities, it became obvious that timely completion of all these surveys called for considerably greater manpower. By itself, Lincoln County extended east to the border with British Canada (wherever that was precisely) and northwards up the Penobscot into the unknown. Three months later, a second committee was established for that county alone.19




  The government wanted to push settlement east and north, and the new committee at once began to lay out townships on the Penobscot River, thirty miles up from the sea. On its eastern shore the surveyors were constrained by lands that had been granted to the Penobscot tribe, as well as existing American settlements. The west bank, however, had room to lay out four townships, running west from the river, more or less parallel with the general trend of the coastline to the south.




  Part of the committee’s job was to set the price of the surveyed lands when they were ready to be sold. High-end lots were those with access to the river, the most practical means of getting about in the absence of roads. Half of these would be offered in tracts not more than five hundred acres per person, at six shillings an acre. Another six thousand acres adjacent to the water (about a quarter of the township) would be made available in 150-acre lots, the price to be at the committee’s discretion. In townships away from the river, three thousand acres were set aside to be given away in hundred-acre lots as an enticement to settle the backcountry. All lots sold had to be settled within a year, “unavoidable casualties excepted.” Recipients of land in the backcountry had to clear a minimum of four acres a year for four years, as well.




  Geopolitics had to be considered, too. The recent history of Machias showed just how important strategic location could be.20 Though little more than an outpost, its successful defense during the Revolutionary War was the difference between leaving Maine’s—and the nation’s—eastern boundary at the Penobscot and making it nearly a hundred miles farther east at the St. Croix River. Leaving the border’s western shore to chance now was to invite foreign encroachment by a recent enemy.21




  To lay out a further six townships along the St. Croix River, the Lincoln committee hired as its “trusty and accurate surveyor” a former brigadier general of the Continental Army, Rufus Putnam.22 Putnam had worked as far south as Florida and west to the Mississippi, and he was about to set off on an expedition to survey and settle the Ohio territory. As it happened, the Ohio project was in limbo, pending congressional action, which left the brigadier eager for the new assignment. On his first expedition to the eastern border, in 1785, Rufus Putnam laid out ten townships. He also reported that there was much confusion in pinning down exactly where the St. Croix River was, since the names of the different rivers running through the region were frequently mixed up on different maps.




  In fact the northeastern boundary was nebulous along most of its length. For want of accurate maps, the Treaty of Paris that ended the War of Independence in 1783 had resorted to vague geographical terms, describing the new country’s border as:




 

    From the northwest angle of Nova Scotia, to wit, that angle which is formed by a line drawn due north from the source of the St. Croix river to the highlands, along the said highlands which divide those rivers that empty themselves into the St. Lawrence, and those which fall into the Atlantic ocean, to the northwestern most head of the Connecticut river.







  This was not the only unfinished business from 1783, and much of it was successfully cleared up in another treaty with the British, negotiated by John Jay in 1794. The boundary claims of “his Britannic Majesty, in his province of New-Brunswick,” however, were not. Dispute over this border would continue to affect the settlement of northern Maine for almost fifty more years.




  As part of Jay’s Treaty, the two sides appointed a commission to continue negotiating a more precise demarcation of America’s northeastern boundary. Well aware that it was an issue in which “this state is directly and most materially interested,” the General Court placed the land committee’s records at the disposal of the American government’s agent.23 A British American survey then traced the St. Croix River up to its headwaters. These were found to be a string of lakes, the Chiputneticooks, including Grand and Spednic Lakes. The boundary followed the stream for about five miles farther up to the river’s source.24 Here the surveyors planted “a Stake near a yellow-Birch Tree hooped with Iron, and marked ST and IH 1797,” the initials of the men who did the work, Samuel Titcomb and John Harris. Up to this point, the boundary was now agreed. Beyond, the “line drawn due north . . . to the highlands” in the original treaty, unsatisfactory as it was, remained the only guide.25




  In 1784, the Lincoln land committee was given an office “in or near the State House.” Open the first and third Wednesdays and Thursdays of every month, it was to serve “those who may be disposed to become purchasers of any of the said lands.” Here the commissioners collected and stored the most up-to-date maps and plans they could find or have made. Once a tract was surveyed, a detailed description would be returned to the office and added to a map at a “scale of not more than three miles to an inch.” Also on file were records of the committee’s “doings,” conducted at a formal meeting held every first Wednesday.26




  One bit of housekeeping that had to be done was the investigation of colonial grants made prior to the war. The General Court wanted assurance that these were being developed according to their contracts, and that “the quantity by them taken in, [did not] exceed the quantity granted or sold.” Smaller claims—half a dozen or so townships—were relatively easy to scrutinize, and several were renewed at between £1000 and £1250 per township. Larger grants in the more distant lands—among them the Waldo Patent and the Plymouth Company’s Kennebec Claim, which went all the way back to William Bradford and the Pilgrims—were another matter.27 They soon had a list, based on “ancient grants and various Indian deeds, etc.,” but verifying their “authenticity and extent” took longer.




  In addition to their duties in the Boston office, the commissioners were often in the field. They were no longer targeting a couple of townships here and there; the whole territory must be surveyed,




 

    . . . beginning upon the sea coasts, navigable rivers, and the boundaries of lands already located, (having regard to the lands and islands the most saleable) and proceeding back towards the interior parts of the said counties in a regular manner.







  With them went surveyors and chainmen to locate and assess the most valuable lands, “with all convenient dispatch.” Quick work was needed if the Eastern Lands were to solve Massachusetts’ financial woes. The men were instructed to “run only the outside lines.” They must, however, report on the quality of the soil and the general condition of the tracts, and “in the admeasurement of them no allowance to be made for ponds, bogs or meadows.”




  At the end of its first year of operation, however, the Lincoln land committee had disposed of a mere one hundred thousand acres. Disappointed with the progress in selling off its Eastern Lands, the authorities decided to speed things up.28




  In July 1786, the General Court directed the Commissary General to supply the land committee with “six barrels of pork, one barrel of beef, and eight hundred pounds of ship bread.” Rufus Putnam was going on another expedition, once again to the very east of Lincoln County. This time he had been contracted to lay out fifty new townships, which would be offered at a public lottery in tracts of varying sizes.29




  The legislative title that authorized the land lottery promised first and foremost to raise £163,000 for the Treasury of the Commonwealth.30 By means of the lottery, “the debt of this Commonwealth, may be reduced; the burden of the necessary taxes, diminished, and the settlement and improvement of the vacant land greatly promoted,” presumably in that order of importance. Putnam’s survey data was incorporated to “locate” the land in question, replete with compass bearings, distances in rods and miles, and when in doubt, local markers: “a heap of stones by a rock-maple tree,” “a white-pine tree marked,” here a “spruce tree,” there a “beech-tree.”




  The bill passed on November 14, 1786, and the drawing was scheduled for the following March. Two thousand seven hundred and twenty tickets—“printed on good paper”—were to be sold at £60 a piece. Each ticket represented a lot of varying size within the fifty townships, so that there were: “one lot or prize of a township, two prizes of half a township each; four prizes of a quarter of a township each,” and so on, up to “thirteen hundred and sixty-six prizes of half a mile square each.”31




  To the land committee—“sworn to the faithful performance of their trust”—went the management of the process from beginning:




   

  . . . procure the said Tickets and number and check the same . . . lay down in a book and number the townships and lots . . . publish the foregoing Scheme of this Lottery, in such of the public news-papers, as they may judge best;







  to end:




 

    . . . publish an account of the numbers and prizes . . . return to the Secretary the book and plans aforesaid . . . list of the numbers and prizes drawn by the respective numbers, in opposite columns . . . sign the same book, and annex their seals to their names.







  To sweeten the deal, “every State or Continental land tax” on the land was waived for fifteen years. Anticipating that the tickets would be highly sought after, not to say tempting, harsh and various punishments were threatened to anyone caught forging or otherwise tampering with a ticket. They could be: “fined not exceeding one thousand pounds,” “imprisoned not exceeding twelve months,” “publicly whipped, not exceeding thirty-nine stripes,” made to “sit on the gallows with a rope about his neck, for the space of one hour,” “branded,” or “sentenced to hard labour.” They might “suffer all or any of the said punishments, according to the discretion of the said Justices, and the nature and aggravation of the offence.”




  In reality, the results fell far below the General Court’s dreams. Only 437 lottery tickets (not 2,720) found buyers—the state called them “fortunate adventurers in the land lottery.” A mere £26,220 was added to the government’s coffers, some £137,000 short of the goal.




  The leftover lottery townships, already surveyed, became the focus for a new committee set up by the General Court a year later in a further effort to invigorate land sales in Maine. The Committee on the Sale of Eastern Lands (with two additional members) was now responsible for all the unappropriated lands in Maine, and its first priority was to start marketing all the townships ready for sale. Sales were to be arranged “in such quantities, and on such terms as they shall judge most for the interest of the commonwealth.”32 A 2 percent charge on each transaction covered the cost of hiring local land agents as well as the salaries of the commissioners.




  At the same time, “unlocated” lands continued to be surveyed, laid out in the usual six-mile-square townships and subdivided into lots. As these efforts penetrated deeper into more or less virgin territory, road-building became an urgent consideration. Maine’s great rivers were still the major travel corridors, and they flowed generally north–south. In between, old-timers recalled to one Rev. Amasa Loring towards the end of the nineteenth century, “[t]he lowlands and swamps were miry, and, as the snow usually fell early, they would not be frozen and passable till deep snow obstructed traveling.”33 The Eastern Lands committee was soon laying out roads—“not more than three rods wide”—between the Kennebec and the Penobscot, and between the Penobscot and the Schoodic River on the eastern border.




  Unauthorized squatters were still trespassing on Commonwealth land, “presuming upon the indulgence of government, that they shall be quieted in their possessions.” Besides another warning from the General Court, the committee hired a Maine judge to actively prosecute those caught in the act.34 Greater nuance was required where a squatter had “possessed” and “improved,” over a significant period of time, land belonging to a major proprietor. Boston was still reeling from the shock of Shays’ Rebellion over taxes and foreclosures in western Massachusetts. The last thing the government wanted was its citizens in the Eastern Lands getting fractious, too.35 Though the commissioners might lean toward the proprietors as their peers—and selling to them was easier and potentially more profitable—it behooved them to recognize a squatter’s rights if he had improved the land.




  A squatter would be regarded as a settler, the General Court declared, if he had “entered upon unappropriated lands,” cleared an acre “fit for mowing and tillage,” built a house before the first day of January 1784, and had lived there ever since.36 Such a person, the court resolved, was allowed to buy—for “five Spanish milled dollars”—a deed for a hundred acres that would “include his improvements, and be least injurious to the adjoining lands.”37 The settler also had the choice of purchasing from the proprietor any additional land he had cultivated, “estimating the same in a state of nature,” or receiving a “reasonable allowance” for the work he had done to “improve” it. If they couldn’t come to terms, they would choose two “disinterested men”—one each—to decide the case, and, in the event of a further deadlock, would appoint a third to break it.




  Natural resource economist Lloyd Irland considered, “The best approach would administer squatter tenures leniently and continue sales to individuals on easy terms.”38 According to others, however, the attempt to accommodate both sides ended up dissatisfying both. “By favoring speculators, Massachusetts antagonized pioneer settlers . . . by protecting squatters, it repelled investors.”39




  During the next two decades, the General Court spawned an almost infinite number of ways to sell or give away the Commonwealth’s Eastern Lands, all primarily aimed at settlement. Together they reflect a mosaic of the attitudes and preoccupations during the early days of the Republic, starting with compensation for the veterans of the Revolutionary War.




  The original land committee had accepted payment with scrip issued by the treasury to “officers and soldiers of the continental army, which may have or shall become due” between 1784 and 1786.40 Later, the General Court authorized grants to old soldiers as fitting recognition of men “whose meritorious services in the field so essentially contributed to establish our independence.”41 Another reason, suggested Irland, was the government’s hope to keep veterans, whose outlook had been considerably broadened by their wartime experiences, “down on the farm” and out of trouble.42




  In 1801, the Commonwealth offered two hundred acres of land each to former soldiers and noncommissioned officers from Massachusetts who had served in the Continental Army. As soon as enough requests had been received to make up a township, roughly a hundred, the lots would be laid out at the state’s expense. Should anyone sell his lot before he had “brought under improvement” at least five acres, however, his claim would be “null and void.” Locating the old soldiers on the extreme northeast border with Canada satisfied a strategic interest, as well.




  With a new century came new wars and new heroes to reward with grants of land.




  

     Whereas in a rising republic it is highly important to cherish that patriotism, which conquers a love of ease, of pleasure, and of wealth, which prompts individuals to a love of their country, and induces them to embrace every opportunity to advance its prosperity and happiness, &c, &c.







  Thus honored was William Eaton, victor of the first American battle fought on foreign soil, who received a grant of ten thousand acres (not “located” at the time) in the District of Maine. With “undaunted courage and brilliant service,” Eaton had rescued American prisoners from the “chains of slavery” in Tripoli.43 The Commonwealth’s generosity differed sharply from the Jefferson administration, which refused to repay the hero $10,000 he claimed to have spent to front the campaign.




  Civilians were compensated for their losses with territorial largesse, too. A group of American sympathizers from Nova Scotia were awarded 9,360 acres. They had lost everything because of the “laudable attachment which they expressed to the American cause” when Jonathan Eddy tried to incite the province to rise against Great Britain. Eddy retreated to Machias, which he successfully held for the colonies throughout the war. He then appealed to the General Court on the refugees’ behalf, receiving lots on the east bank of the Penobscot ranging from a hundred and fifty to the fifteen hundred acres given to Eddy himself. (The town became Eddington.)




  The “sufferers of Falmouth” were granted two townships. Early in the war, the defenseless town (by now rebuilt as Portland) had been burned in a punitive raid by the British navy, an action so notorious it inspired a line in the Declaration of Independence: “[King George III] has plundered our seas, ravaged our Coasts, burnt our towns, and destroyed the lives of our people.” The land was divided among the sufferers “according to their present respective circumstance and wants.” To ensure fair play, a committee of disinterested citizens, chosen by vote, did the allotting.44




  Residual enmities and amities of the recent conflict informed many decisions. Among the lands confiscated from “certain conspirators and absentees” and handed over to the land committee was Sir Francis Bernard’s Mount Desert Island. The former governor was dead, but his son petitioned the General Court to reclaim his inheritance. After “ample testimony of the uniformity, consistency and propriety of his political conduct” during the hostilities, John Bernard received half his father’s lands. He was, however, unable to make a success of it, according to the surveyor, Park Holland, who bumped into Bernard in the course of Rufus Putnam’s first surveying expedition. Bernard’s family travails during the war “were said to have affected his reason,” Holland reported. “We found him in a small hut of his own erecting, with no living creature but a little dog, for his companion.” Bernard said he intended to build a farm, but the surveyors were skeptical. “Poor fellow! we pitied him,” wrote the intrepid Holland. “He had probably never done a day’s work in his life.”45




  The other half of the governor’s land went to a French lady, Marie Theresa de Gregoire, whose grandfather, the explorer Sieur de Cadillac, had been granted Mount Desert Island by Louis XIV. Its “liberality and generosity,” the General Court was at pains to explain, were not to be seen as a precedent.46 It only wished to “cultivate a mutual confidence and union between the subjects of his most christian majesty and the citizens of this state.”47




  Another way to use land was as a path to naturalization. “Any foreigner or foreigners” could buy it if he put a family on a square mile of land within three years. After two years of successful settlement, he would be eligible for American citizenship, provided that two justices of the peace or three pillars of the community could certify that he had “behaved himself during that time, as a good member of society.”




  Unappropriated land soon attracted the attention of those interested in encouraging the humanities and natural sciences in the new country. One resolve, dated February 28, 1793, directed the Eastern Lands committee simply to make grants “for the encouragement of literature,” without further guidance as to how this might be accomplished. The new Agricultural Society received a township, the proceeds of which would endow a Professorship of Botany.48 Other nations had botanical gardens, the legislators noted, and not just those basking in the “genial climes of the south of Europe.” In Massachusetts, it could display native plants, study the potential of local soil and climate, and test the “ideas of ingenious Agriculturists.”




  Gifts of land had always been used to support seats of higher learning. The colonial government granted a “sixty-fourth part” (one of the four lots customarily reserved for public uses) of several townships to Harvard. These were reconfirmed in 1790 and a half-dozen lots already reserved for “future appropriation” added.49 Even a township—or two, as was granted to Williams College—was a painless way to endow a college or seminary “without any burden on the community.”50 The typical formulation read, “Sell, convey and dispose of, in such way and manner as shall best promote the welfare of said academy.”51 For the next few years land was granted to burgeoning academies, including Hallowell, Berwick, and Fryeburg in the District of Maine. And lest Fryeburg need more, the land committee set aside Pleasant Mountain “and all other lands and ponds contiguous thereto . . . in case the said trustees shall apply therefor.”




  A plethora of land was now owned by cultural institutions, most of them more than willing to sell it. They provided a quick and easy way for investors to purchase a tract or two, especially when in 1795 the committee for the sale of the Eastern Lands had to suspend its sales activities. After a decade of trial and error, it had kept up with neither the General Court’s expectations nor its own increasing expenses. From 1795 on, all land sales and settlement decisions were made by legislative resolve, although the committee would not be finally dissolved until 1801.52




  If they applied to the General Court, speculators had no alternative but to don the “ardor which was then exhibited for the establishment and endowment of literary institutions,” wrote Moses Greenleaf when he made a Survey of Maine after it became a state. Such applications were “not frequently rejected,” he noted. Their number increased accordingly, as did the range of endeavors, including public works projects such as construction of roads, bridges, and canals. “For a time, the Legislature was continually, and, in general, successfully importuned,” on behalf of all these efforts, wrote Greenleaf. What followed had been inevitable.




  

     More purchases had been made with a view to a speedy profit from resales in smaller parcels to actual settlers, than was sufficient to meet the demand of the increasing population; and more families were contracted to be placed, in a given time, on the lands thus purchased, than could easily be obtained. Of course the fever for speculation abated, and the purchasers were left at leisure to employ themselves in improving the value of their property, or waiting until the progress of the population of the country should bring it again into demand.53







  Eventually, the liberality toward academies led to more critical consideration.54 Land grants should only be awarded to those institutions with enough capital in hand




 

    . . . to erect and repair the necessary buildings, to support the corporation, to procure and preserve such apparatus and books as may be necessary, and to pay a part of the salaries of the preceptors.







  No new academy should be encouraged unless there was a local population large enough—thirty to forty thousand inhabitants—to support it. Moreover, given that Massachusetts already boasted fifteen “academies,” the committee would now recommend grants of no more than half a township each. To add more, even in parts of the state that had most need of them would be very difficult “until the wealth and population of the state shall be very considerably increased.”




  And then there was religion.




   

  WHEREAS religion and morality have a direct tendency to promote the interest and happiness, not only of individuals, but of society in general; and it being the unhappiness of many of the infant plantations in the county of Lincoln, to be destitute of public religious instruction.55







  Thus the General Court introduced its intent to provide a minister for Lincoln county. It was “of the highest consequence, that the earliest foundation be laid in those infant settlements for acquiring the knowledge of, and of being led to the practice of religion and morality.” Once again, one is reminded of the reputation the early residents of Maine had earned for being morally somewhat beyond the pale. Acting from a “parental regard” toward the plantations, the court ordered the employment of a “discreet and suitable preacher” and sent him into the wilds of the county for six months.




  One preacher, be he never so “discreet and suitable,” could not properly serve a county as large as Lincoln. The “60 Protestant families” settled in a handful of townships granted before Independence expected to have their own minister. In reconfirming these grants, the Commonwealth followed the steps of its colonial predecessors. The proprietors would build a “suitable meeting-house for the public worship of God,” in each township and provide for the minister’s “comfortable and honourable support.” To this end, the state would reserve two plots of land—one for the minister and one for the ministry—in every township it conveyed against the day the settlement became a bustling community, which was the unchallenged assumption for every township the land committee’s surveyors laid.




  As a sine qua non for future settlements, education was on a par with religion. In 1788, the General Court recommended “building and supporting a public seminary of learning.” To be located midway between the Kennebec and the Penobscot, a township, six miles square, was appropriated of “as good a tract of land for that purpose, as may be found there.” In due course, this became Lincoln Academy. But just as each town would eventually need a minister, it would also need its own grammar school. Reserving a lot in each township was the way to ensure support for education, as well as religion.




  Even the fifty townships in the public lottery had specifically reserved “four lots of three hundred and twenty acres each, for public uses.” On March 26, 1788, the Massachusetts General Court made it official. Four 320-acre lots would be reserved in each township sold: one for the minister, one for the ministry, one for the schools, and “one for the future appropriation of the General Court.”56 This was the resolve that, nearly two centuries later, would catch an environmental reporter’s eye. It would remain the standard formula (with one significant change) even after Maine separated from Massachusetts. They were not always the focus of public or political attention, but the Public Reserved Lands were embedded in the settlement history of interior Maine from the start.







  



  Chapter Two




  Sagamores, Speculators, and Statehood (1795–1820)




  In July 1801, a man called Joseph Inman was thrown in jail for murder. The corpse was never found, but the two men—settlers on a plantation that would in a few years become Orono—were known to have had words “under the influence of rum.” Five years after its official purchase from the Penobscot Indians, theirs was still a raucous neighborhood inhabited by men who had cleared their patches regardless of legal rights or consequences.




  At Inman’s hearing, “nearly the whole population of the upper Penobscot” showed up before the local justice of the peace, Jonathan Eddy. They all agreed that Inman was guilty. Most startling was the testimony of his own son William. Young Inman swore he had encountered the victim’s ghost—while going to share a pint of rum with a neighbor—and the ghost itself told him: “Your father was the very man who killed me.” (The son seems not to have forgiven his father for cheating on his mother and causing their divorce.)




  Inman Senior had been some months behind bars awaiting trial when, to everyone’s surprise, the “dead” man showed up. He had read of his own demise while traveling out of state and hastened to return to clear things up. By this time, the prisoner had spent everything he owned defending himself, finally selling his landholding for pennies on the dollar. Three years later, acting on the petition of a certain Amos Patten, the General Court authorized the land agent to compensate him with a hundred and fifty acres of land in the “nine townships of land purchased of the Penobscot Indians.”57




  Linked in this nugget of local history are a number of men of importance to the early settlement of northern Maine: Jonathan Eddy, now flourishing in his eponymous town of Eddington, had been the voice of the Nova Scotia refugees. Amos Patten, already a pillar of the Bangor community, would settle the township that bears his name and was one of the first white men to climb Mount Katahdin.58 Moses Greenleaf, another signatory on Inman’s behalf, published the first map of the State of Maine, as well as the encyclopedic Survey of the state. Salem Towne, the land agent, was the future surveyor of Mount Desert Island for Sir Francis Bernard’s son. And it was outside the dwelling of Joseph Treat, who would explore the wild reaches of the new state, that Inman’s son was accosted by the ghost.




  Inman’s tale also prompts the question: How did Massachusetts acquire the township from the Penobscots? With its long tradition of negotiating treaties by fiat.




  The echo of the “shot heard round the world” had hardly died away over Concord Bridge when Massachusetts appealed to the tribes to join their cause. The smoke from the Battle of Bunker Hill was still in the air when, on June 21, 1775, a delegation of Penobscots sat down with the Provincial Congress in Watertown. The British had never been popular with the Indians—Governor Pownall’s contemptuous attitude to them was typical—and Chief Orono responded with a splendid (and famous) speech to his tribe:




 

    Our white brothers tell us they came to the Indian’s country to enjoy liberty and life. Their Great Sagamore [George III] is coming to bind them in chains, to kill them. We must fight him. We will stand on the same ground with them. For should he bind them in bonds, next he will treat us as bears.







  Chief Orono promised that the tribe would “aid with their whole force to defend the country.” First, however, the painful issue of American sharp practice against the Indians and their lands must be addressed. The Massachusetts government formally recognized Penobscot claims to lands “beginning at the Head of Tide, on the Penobscot river, extending six miles on each side of said river.” The treaty banned “trespassing or making waste upon any of the lands and territories or possessions” of the Indians. “Proper and effectual measures” would put a stop to any “fraudulent traffic with them.”59




  The Penobscots were as good as their word, supporting and fighting on the colonists’ side. Chief Orono himself took up arms. He also continued to advocate for the struggling Republic with his people. Help them, he said. “They will return good for good, and the law of love runs through the hearts of their children and ours when we are dead. Look down the stream of time.”




  “The stream of time” did not long reflect Chief Orono’s optimism. By 1786, settlers pressing eastward reached the banks of the Penobscot River and the six-mile strip that had been confirmed as Penobscot territory eleven years earlier. If instead the land were available to connect the backcountry homesteads to the river, their value would be increased and further settlement encouraged. General Benjamin Lincoln (Washington’s second-in-command during the war) set out to hold another conference with the tribe at what is now Bangor. Among Lincoln’s commission was Rufus Putnam, just back from surveying the lottery townships.




  In exchange for the Indian lands negotiated at Watertown, General Lincoln offered land farther up the river. The Penobscots were indignant. The general pointed out that as settlement and clearing reached the six-mile-limit, Indian hunting grounds would be spoiled; the territory he offered them was bigger and better. The Penobscots continued to resist. Lincoln “retired” with an implicit ultimatum, “You have our proposals from which we shall not depart.” After discussion amongst themselves, the chiefs acquiesced, demanding in addition “350 blankets, 200 lbs Powder, and Shot and Flints in proportion.”60




  By the time a delegation with the blankets and powder arrived two years later, the Penobscots had changed their mind. They had not had a “right understanding of matters,” the sachems complained. “We were pressed to make that Treaty contrary to our inclinations.” This time it was a minister, the Rev. Daniel Little, who had to “impress their minds with a sense of the authority of Government.” They could “expect that Government would abide by that agreement, made by words and witnesses, and expect the same from them,” Little told the Indians. Responded one chief, “Brother, ministers ought not to have anything to do with public business.” After four hours the conference ended with the treaty unsigned and, Little noted, “not a drop of rum by us or them while in the town.”




  There the matter rested, with the inevitable result that over the next ten years whites assumed they were allowed to settle, while Penobscots remained equally certain that they were not. In 1796, Governor Samuel Adams appointed a second commission, once and for all, “to fix the Boundaries of such Lots & Parcels of Land as may be necessary to assign for the support of said Indians . . . ; extinguish all [their] right & claim . . . to the residue of the Lands aforesaid.”




  In Boston, one view held that the Indians had no ownership rights at all, they having acknowledged—in Governor Pownall’s time—the forfeiture of “all their lands by taking up arms against the King.” Nonetheless, argued William Shepard, a commissioner who had studied the “transactions” between Massachusetts and the tribe, it would be better to deal with the Indians as if they owned the lands in question. The Penobscots agreed to relinquish their territory on both shores of the river from Head of Tide upstream for thirty miles, keeping only Old Town and other islands. When Salem Towne surveyed it and laid it out into nine townships, the acquisition was nearly 190,000 acres. The price was:




  

     one hundred and fifty yards of blue woolens, four hundred pounds of shot, one hundred pounds of powder, one hundred bushels of corn, thirteen bushels of salt, thirty six hats, one barrel of rum, and an annual stipend of three hundred bushels of Indian corn, fifty pounds of powder, two hundred pounds of shot, and seventy-five yards of blue woolen cloth, fit for garments.61







  This “consideration” may have been more than $24 worth of beads, but nothing near the land’s market value of almost $200,000. Wrote one observer, soon to play his own part in settling Maine’s wildlands: “The attention of all New England speculators is fixed on these lands and they will sell very high.”62 They were speedily advertised for sale “at public vendue” at a minimum price of a dollar per acre.63 The settlers—Joseph Inman among them—whose squatting on Indian lands had brought the case to a boil in the first place were “secured in their possessions” and each allowed to purchase another hundred acres. The rest would be sold in parcels no more than a quarter of a township with the familiar reserved lots appropriately downsized:




  

     one hundred acres for schools; fifty acres for the first settled minister; and one hundred acres for the ministry, each tract to be equal in value with the same quantity of land in the same quarter of a township on an average.







  This was hardly the end of land troubles along the Penobscot. Indians continued to lease certain rights (but not others, at least in their minds) to settlers. Settlers continued to trespass on Indian and public lands. The result was more misunderstanding. In 1803, the General Court attempted to get some control over the situation by requiring all leases between Indians and settlers to be approved by the Indian affairs commissioner.




  This proved unworkable. Settlers would sell their leases to other settlers. The Penobscots put great stock in developing social ties with those with whom they did business, so this fostered still greater resentment. The commissioner himself had been a poor choice, always complaining of “being at a great distance, bad traveling, & ill health.”64 In 1807, he was fired, and the need for commissioner approval of leases repealed.65




  As it would be with the Public Reserved Lands 175 years later, the issue was a different understanding of rights and harvestable trees. The Indians believed they had sold the right to cut timber suitable for masts only and only for five years. The settlers, however, claimed the right lasted for thirty years, “cut away all the valuable timber . . . and encouraged others to do the same,” complained the Penobscot governor. The Penobscots did not “recognize the part of the bargain which relates to the soil, they say that the thing was not properly explained to them by their agent,” wrote the new commissioner, Horatio Balch, in pleading their case.




  Balch was more sympathetic to the Native Americans than his predecessor, which only made his job more difficult. Charged with protecting public as well as Indian lands, he was doubly unpopular with settlers. Guards had to be hired to “resist attacks with which [the land agent] is usually threatened.” He could only act after the fact, and then it was “extremely difficult to get correct information respecting trespassers,” he wrote to Governor James Sullivan.66 It was an impossible job, “his personal safety assailed, and at the same time exposing himself and family to repeated injuries.” After less than two years Horatio Balch resigned. Wrote Sullivan,




 

    No one man, however able he may be, can perform the duties of a Guardian or Superintendent, over three hundred and fifty miserable savages, spread over one hundred and eighty thousand acres of Wilderness; or protect such a vast extent of Territory from depredations. People in that wide spreading Country, will find maneuvers to deceive and defraud him.67







  By the mid-1790s, peopling the wildlands had become as much a priority for the General Court as using them as a cash cow. Buyers must have “particular regard to the settlement thereof,” it ruled in limiting sales west of the Penobscot to one township per customer. East of the river, land could be sold “in any quantities they may have opportunity for,” but forty settlers per township must be installed “within a reasonable time.”68




  Despite these provisos, land, whether sold or granted, was not being settled fast enough. At the same time, with purchasers putting down as little as 20 percent, the treasury was acquiring more credit than cash. Frequent defaults and requests for extensions made the situation even worse. Would-be landowners “now come forward and say, that they are utterly unable to perform their contract.” Despite what they had put into “lotting their townships, and clearing roads, &c.,” they faced losing their down payment and the abandonment of their settlement. When, in 1791, the Eastern Lands committee asked for guidance in dealing with such cases, all the General Court could advise was to carry on in a way “most likely to expedite the sale and settlement of the public lands, and best promote the interest of the commonwealth.”69




  The other approach to settlement was the siren call of the speculators. Of these the first were General Henry Knox, then Washington’s secretary of war, and William Duer, assistant secretary of the treasury under Alexander Hamilton. Their ambition, wrote Frederick S. Allis Jr., was nothing less than to “corner all the wild lands available for purchase down east.” They had, moreover, the “sheer nerve” to try to pull it off “with almost no financial resources of any kind.”70




  Henry Knox was a Revolutionary War hero whose transportation of captured ordinance from Fort Ticonderoga across ice and snow had forced the British to abandon Boston. As an impoverished officer before the war, he married the granddaughter of none other than Brigadier General Samuel Waldo, “hereditary lord” of the Waldo Patent. When her “Colonial Nobleman” father and mother fled with all the other loyalists under the muzzles of their son-in-law’s cannon, Knox inherited most of Waldo’s land, which at the Brigadier General’s death amounted to over eight hundred thousand acres.71 With it came a taste for speculation, not least because encouraging settlement in Maine could only add value to his new demesne.




  Knox had already been involved in a speculation with William Duer, whose Scioto Company was marketing to “unsuspecting Frenchmen” the lands in Ohio that had attracted Rufus Putnam.72 It was a disaster, doomed by a combination of proprietor incompetence, a Paris agent’s dishonesty, and lack of working capital. Leaving the unhappy émigrés struggling in an unfamiliar wilderness, Knox and Duer moved on to a new venture, the purchase of a “quantity of land, not less than 1 million, or more than 4 million of acres” in the unappropriated Eastern Lands of the District of Maine.




  “Four millions of acres well located,” they instructed their agents without blushing, “will cover all considerable tracts of cultivable land, in which case the purchase of half would operate as a monopoly of the whole and enable us to fix the price.” If the land committee, “from a jealousy of monopoly, and perhaps other causes,” proved averse to so huge a purchase, the identity of the real buyers could be hidden by using different names, or as they put it, “different applications varying in some instances in order to avoid suspicion of combination.” Every effort was to be made to get the committee to “come into our views.” However, if the presumably less malleable General Court had to be involved, now was the time, “as in their present temper they will judge liberal,” directed Henry Knox.




  Lobbying the committee was one part of the agents’ job. Another was to obtain the most up-to-date information on the “quality and situation of the lands,” especially townships already surveyed and well situated near navigation or existing settlements. Regarding the lands to which the “Indians have some sort of claim,” once the committee had agreed to the sale, they should use that claim “as an argument for lessening the price of the land.”




  Knox’s agent, General Henry Jackson, soon discovered that the land committee was hesitant to sell more than a million acres to any one party. They would have to appeal to the General Court. Fortunately, Knox had been right about its “liberal temper”; the committee was instructed to accept an offer for two million acres. This was only half of what the speculators had in mind, and Knox again urged his agent to use names of other purchasers to get to the total. Jackson, on the front lines in Boston, replied that to go for more would queer the deal, and he and Royal Flint (Duer’s agent) signed a purchase agreement for two million acres on July 1, 1791. In addition to the customary reservation of four lots per township, the state kept the rights on up to five tracts of land equaling “six miles by thirty [five townships] . . . for furnishing masts.” (This right was never exercised.)




  The land lay to the east of the Penobscot River, but the speculators had an option to locate one million acres of it on the upper Kennebec instead. The core of the Penobscot million consisted of the considerable residue of unsold townships from the lottery, none of which were on the coast. Jackson thought this represented a missed opportunity; the ocean would open a “wide door” and increase the value of their lands by 25 percent. He persuaded Knox to buy the half of Mount Desert Island owned by Marie Theresa de Gregoire, the Sieur de Cadillac’s granddaughter, and her husband.




  But Knox wanted another million acres, in fact everything east of the Penobscot. If the land committee would give the nod to such a sale in principle, he could get the General Court, which was full of his friends, to be responsible for its final approval. The committee, replied his agent, was a “parcel of old women” and would never dare to make so ambitious a deal.




  General Jackson’s signature on the contract for two million acres was hardly dry when a dying ripple from the disaster in Ohio reached him in Boston. William Duer, who hoped to recoup his Scioto losses with the Maine speculation, had contacted one of the stranded French party’s leaders, Madame Bacler de Leval. This forceful woman was scouting out a new life in America for herself and her husband, an idle grandee of the ancien régime whom she had left behind in France. Her recent experience with Duer notwithstanding, she replied expressing interest in his new project. A “veil of obscurity” hung over Scioto, and she was eager to investigate the “more certain prospect of establishing” an émigré colony in Maine. Romantic French attitudes toward the new American republic would assure its success.




  A preliminary agreement was concluded in August, and in October, Henry Jackson was sailing Down East with Mme. de Leval and twenty of her compatriots to inspect the lands on offer. Now tour leader as well as lobbyist and promoter, General Jackson was anxious to make a first sale for the proprietors. The party soon got the taste of a very different attitude. When unfavorable winds forced their ship to drop anchor off an island in Eggemoggin Reach, they had to go ashore. A surly squatter appeared as the voyageurs were building a bonfire and announced that every tree they cut would cost them three shillings.




  They continued to Mount Desert Island, where the Gregoires were a fount of information but not particularly encouraging. Most of the shoreland—the “wide door”—was already taken. On a frost-clear day, they went ashore again in Taunton Bay and got a beautiful view for miles around from the top of Schoodic Mountain. But here too, most of the shore was claimed and expensive; one settler offered them a hundred acres for ‎£500. By the time Mme. de Leval and her friends picked the townships they wanted, Jackson’s patience was wearing thin. However, he promised to buy out anyone already living on them.




  A few stout hearts were planning to stay the winter, and Jackson had to buy a farm in Trenton, on the spot, to house them. It was part of the Gregoire land, and the French christened it Fontaine Leval, after “notre amazone.” While they waited to move in—the farmer required only two hours to vacate the premises—they sang, drank, and danced around the bonfire they had finally built with their own trees. The rest sailed back to Boston, their optimistic mood somewhat dampened by a storm that left “everyone on board sick, even the captain.”73




  Frederick Allis described Mme. de Leval as having a “good business head, a great deal of nagging aggressiveness and perseverance.” Upon her return, she outlined her needs in a long letter to Duer and Knox: good land for planting crops, a climate to let them grow, and a way to get them to market. However, the most suitable sites along the shore were already settled, and it was impossible to penetrate the interior, “where certainly the surveyors have not been.” The map was useless. “The trees are exceedingly close there, and the small space they afford between them is either crowded by roots or other felled trees.” They had found two farms deep in the woods, abandoned almost before they were begun. Lack of access had driven the settlers back to the bay.




  However, wrote Mme. de Leval, “a person deprived of being seated on the banks of a river, or on the shores of a Bay, may be indemnified by having an easy communication of good roads.” Along the coast, the government had already “caused a road to be traced from east to west.” The proprietors must build another one connecting it to a “creek” in the north that was said to connect the Penobscot and Schoodic rivers. She was “convinced that the glory of your being usefull to your country, in settling one of its unhabitted provinces, must equall the pecuniary advantages for you which will result therefrom.” This rhetorical flourish at the end of her letter reads—at least in hindsight—as if Madame’s tongue were quite through her cheek.




  In January 1792, a purchase agreement was drawn up for five townships, plus the land around Fontaine Leval in Trenton. They were to be connected by a road, and two townships were to be cleared for settlers. Knox and Duer also promised to put up funds to promote the settlement in France. He had sold the Trenton parcel to Mme. de Leval at a loss, Jackson later told Knox, “to stop her tongue which was very limber, and never idle in proclaiming her difficulties and distress’s, [sic] and the causes of them.”74 Nevertheless, so far, so good. Then things went terribly wrong.




  In March, Duer’s wild financial speculation—based on insider information gleaned while at the U.S. Treasury—brought on the Panic of 1792, the nation’s first financial crisis. He himself was bankrupt. On March 23, he was arrested for irregularities uncovered in his treasury accounts. Even his friend Hamilton could not save William Duer. He spent the rest of his life in debtors’ prison.




  Astonishingly, incarceration didn’t stop Duer’s wheeling and dealing. He even proposed to buy Knox out, the overwhelming debt that was keeping him behind bars notwithstanding. Whenever Knox lined up a buyer for his share, Duer would balk, looking for a better deal. With his “want of cander and decision,” feared Jackson in a note to Knox, Duer would “sacrifice you and every one else to his own views and wishes.” His advice: “Push him to a point and then fix him.” Beneath their fine linens, these men were all cutthroats.




  Duer’s bankruptcy put the whole Maine enterprise in jeopardy. The promised advance to promote the French settlement was now impossible. With Bacler de Leval threatening legal action, it fell to the long-suffering General Jackson to deal with the Amazon. By May, he was fed up. “Madame Leval is yet here,” he wrote Knox from Boston. “I wish her gone.”




  More seriously for Knox, his payments to Massachusetts for the two million acres were coming due. An attempt to broker a deal directly between de Leval and the Commonwealth—which would have passed financial and settlement responsibilities on to the French—was stymied by those “old women” of the Eastern Lands committee. In frustration, Jackson wrote another warning note to Knox: Bacler de Leval and her friends are “artful and cunning,” always ready to “take any and every advantage of you.”75 He backed up his suspicions by showing Knox a letter from a friend in Europe (despite his friend’s request, “for God’s sake,” not to “communicate it to your best friends”). Mme. de Leval’s associates in Europe “appear astonished at the boldness of her undertaking and the confidence which the Americans have placed in her.” Henry Knox’s dream of a bonanza in land speculation suddenly looked very shaky indeed.




  The secretary of war’s last hope was William Bingham, perhaps the richest man in America. Bingham had spent the war in the French West Indies buying arms on behalf of the Continental Congress and furthering his own business interests at the same time. Back in Philadelphia, he confirmed his impressive social and financial position by marrying the daughter of one of that city’s most prominent merchants and politicians.




  Knox probably started talking to Bingham about the Maine project during the summer of 1792. By the end of the year, Bingham was ready to commit and had brought on his own agent (another Jackson). Major William Jackson had most recently been President Washington’s private secretary.76 A job with the Philadelphia millionaire had an additional appeal for the younger man: he was courting Bingham’s sister-in-law.




  Before a final deal could be reached, Duer had to be “fixed.” Time was short, and any arrangement with him must be proof against his by now familiar prevarications. Bingham worked with Major Jackson on a contract all one winter night, before dispatching him to Duer’s prison the next morning. There the major got the prisoner to sign over all of his shares in the land. At last, for $50,000, William Duer was out of the picture.




  Meanwhile, Henry Knox was keeping Bingham in the loop with a barrage of letters. When a survey of the Kennebec tract—prepared for another speculator—was not encouraging, Knox took great pains to rationalize it. Regarding the surveyor, it was “proverbial that he takes things upon trust.” He might have been trying to guide his employer away from Maine toward other lands.77 He visited too late in the season. Knox was “not in the least discouraged by this report.” And if it turned out the Kennebec lands were a bust, they could buy land east of the Penobscot instead. A follow-up note assured Bingham, on the authority of a veteran of Benedict Arnold’s march, that the land and timber were excellent, so good, in fact, that Aaron Burr had wanted a slice of Duer’s share.




  On the last day of 1792, Bingham signed a memorandum of agreement, taking over Knox’s financial obligations to the state and promising him a third of future profits. Early the next year, he was in Boston securing the General Court’s approval. Negotiations took longer than expected, in part because of the social stir surrounding so distinguished a visitor. The industrious Bingham was a little put out by the “interruptions to business, occasioned by the excessive hospitalities of this place, which engage a very great portion of my time.” He was also gratified: “The governor [John Hancock] has been remarkably civil, and full of attentions.”




  By the end of January 1793, William Bingham of Philadelphia had title to two million acres in Maine. The investment would be the crowning success of a successful financial career, based on all he had heard. Marketing such excellent tracts, “either in large tracts or at retail,” would only require an “energetic system of development and advertisement.”78 For more information on conditions in Maine, the new proprietor sent a questionnaire to General Benjamin Lincoln. Among a wide range of issues were: the population, geography, and suitability for agriculture; the potential for exports, harbors, and ship-building; the fish and game to be found, as well as specialties like seaweed, exotic fruit, ginseng, and bark. Of special concern to Bingham were the forests, how much timber they would provide, and the “mill seats,” where it would be turned into lumber.




  These were in dire straits, the general warned. It was the old story of trespass, and the state had been “too inattentive.”






   People have set down on public lands, possessed themselves of the best mill seats, and have cut the timber from any of the public lands where it has been convenient for them, without ever accounting for the same. It is not uncommon for these people and others to take hay on their sleds, when the rivers are frozen and follow up the streams of ice, until they find a good spot of timber near the banks. . . . The timber is cut and thrown into the river, or on the ice, so that on breaking up of winter, the logs go downstream even into the mill ponds, and often when there is a great head of water, they go over the dams into the sea.79







  Fisheries were another cause for concern, attention to which was “one means by which the Commonwealth of Massachusetts may promote the interest and facilitate the settlement of the District of Maine.” The general’s comments, written in 1793, are worth noting for their understanding of ecology.




 

    To have a supply of bank [marine] and river fish at all times depends very much on our own conduct, for a supply of the bank fish in our harbours and near our shores depends on the state of the river fish. These nature has pointed to the sources of the rivers, the ponds, and lakes, the quiet waters of which give that security to the spawn necessary for its existence.




  Hence it becomes important, if you would preserve those fish, to keep the passages open to the lakes and prevent any unnatural obstruction being thrown in its way. . . . Hence it is important to the proprietors of the inland country to see that the mouths of the rivers, on most of which are mills, are kept open.80







  Old Benjamin Lincoln’s detailed answers—he had been “confined at home by a storm,” and it gave him something to do—so impressed Bingham that he had the same questionnaire printed and distributed among the Maine members of the Massachusetts legislature.




  One of the witnesses to Bingham’s contract with the Commonwealth was a Continental Army veteran turned Massachusetts politician, General David Cobb. Cobb had been familiar with Knox’s two million acres since Henry Jackson first started lobbying for it. As speaker, he had helped the General Court towards its positive decision. In March 1795, Cobb, as Bingham’s agent in Maine, headed Down East to shepherd the development of the Penobscot lands. His employer expected frequent and detailed reports. “There is no part of the United States that stands so much in need of a helping hand,” he wrote, “as the character of this country has been much depreciated by ignorance or design.”81




  Bingham’s first order, following General Lincoln’s advice, was “to prevent the depredations on the wood and getting possession of the mill seats, so as to command the means of converting the wood into lumber.” Another came almost at once. Cobb must “secure every mill seat that was within the bounds of the tract.” From those who already owned a mill and were getting their wood from Bingham’s land, he must collect “the portion of lumber which I am entitled to, which is one half, by the custom of the country.”82




  Cobb promised to put an end to timber trespass on the lands in his care. However, to take all the mill seats, he cautioned, would make it much harder to sell the land, since these were what the best prospects (wealthy farmers, for instance) wanted to buy. It would also be expensive because Bingham would have to build all the mills himself to accommodate the settlers. Better to reserve a few of the best sites and sell the rest.83 Bingham replied that he wanted, not to monopolize the mill seats, but to “prevent the depredations on the lumber by depriving the spoilers of the means of turning it to account.” If these “lawless proceedings” continued, Cobb must “secure the portion of the lumber, which by custom is due to the owner of the soil, from which the lumber is obtained.”84 A month later, Cobb had the situation in hand. “The fame of my arrival,” he wrote, “is gone forth into all the saw mills.” The operators would cut no more wood. “If they want the logs, they must either purchase and settle the land upon which they grow, or pay for them as is the custom on the Kennebeck River.”85




  There remained the problem of the French connection. As soon as his agreement with Bingham was signed and sealed, Knox suavely referred Mme. Baclerde Leval to the new owner of his Maine lands. She could now, Knox was confident, found her “Colony in the East, which will add to the happiness of the human race.” Bingham proved more adept at keeping the Amazon at arm’s length than poor General Jackson. Pressure of negotiations, he regretted, had kept them from meeting in Boston where she had pursued him. He had doubtless heard the gossip that Mme. de Leval had “no resources beyond herself, nor any means of making good her contracts but from the lands.” When Bingham finally got around to addressing her claims, he ignored the complaints about Knox and Duer, writing to her in businesslike terms (that ought to have raised a blush in those two gentlemen as well):




 

    You doubtless cannot have undertaken a project, which must necessarily involve a considerable expenditure, without having formed an association possessed of sufficient capital to carry it into complete execution.86







  Mme. de Leval turned again to an old friend, Colonel Benjamin Walker, who had tried earlier to mediate between Knox and Duer and herself. Walker served as aide-de-camp to Baron von Steuben during the war and was rumored to have been the homosexual Prussian’s lover. In March, Walker bought from Bingham on her behalf over one hundred thousand acres in Hancock County, including two “wide door” (or coastal) townships and three from the Penobscot million. The deeds were held in escrow until payment should be completed, several years hence, but without them in hand, Mme. de Leval soon found sales to her émigré clients next to impossible (which was hardly surprising, given the irregularity of the Scioto venture). Without sales, she complained, she could not make her payments. Adding insult to injury, squatters and timber trespassers were running roughshod over her lands.




  Bacler de Leval’s harassment was taking its toll on even William Bingham’s resources. And although the General Court had not yet taken over responsibility for selling the public lands, criticism of the Eastern Lands committee by Maine lawmakers for selling large tracts of the district to speculators could only complicate his plans.87 Bingham’s original intention to develop his land in lots and sell them at retail had to be amended. He realized he needed a sale on the order of hundreds of thousands of acres. As had William Duer with the Ohio lands, he decided Europe was the place to seek such a deal.




  In 1793, the Old World seemed ready to implode. In France, the Terror had begun; Mme. de Leval was mourning the loss of “several of my friends and particularly of my sister.” For American speculators, on the other hand, there was a silver lining. “The political convulsions of Europe,” wrote Bingham to two Dutch bankers he hoped to engage as investors, would “inevitably draw to this country an immense immigration from various quarters, but particularly from Ireland, France, and Germany.” It had already started, and as soon as word got back that land could be easily obtained,




 

    the subjects of these kingdoms would certainly wish to exchange the state of oppressed tenantry for that of landholders having property in the soil which will be transmitted to their children.88







  General Henry Jackson, writing to Knox at about this time, was even balder. “If a revolution should take place in England, Ireland, etc., as there is every appearance, it will be a most fortunate circumstance to our speculation.” Accordingly, Major William Jackson was torn from courting his boss’ sister-in-law and sailed to Europe in June 1793. He spent two years there dealing with, among others, the murderous Committee for Public Safety in Paris, which he failed to interest in purchasing land in Maine. He reiterated, nonetheless, Bingham’s confidence that political turmoil would turn the tide of speculation.




  

     Sober men cannot reflect on the present situation of Europe without alarm both for their property and personal quiet. . . . [T]he safe and happy condition of America hourly increases the disposition to emigrate to that country, and must soon [produce] speculations in every description of property in the United States. Nothing but the dogs of war and watchful shepherds now keep the sheep within their respective folds.89





OEBPS/Images/frn_fig_007.jpg
NORTHEASTERN

BOUNDARY

1783-1842

The 1783 Tty of Prisdefndthe boundiry
as: "From the North West Augl: Nova Scotia,

s T i sy Line

o due Northfom she S

Groix, R,.mo the Highlands...

thatled o counter clams

ceer 1783
United States boundary line
claim based on Treaty of Paris.

== 1797
Survey determining the St. Croix
River and boundary line.

——1821
United States boundary line claim.

-==1821
Great Britain boundary line claim.

e {5 ]
Kingafthe Necherlands proposed
boundary line.

— 1842
Boundary linc established by the
Webster-Ashburcon Treaty.

Map based on Maine Northesst Boundiry Sedlmen

ot theMaine Hinoret Socey’s Mate Brmimnial

Ailas, An Histrical Survey (1976) and the Map of the

Boundry LinesBetween the United States and the

A B Provines (1843 drvwn by Thomas
Lee for the US. House of Representitives.






OEBPS/Images/frn_fig_004.jpg





OEBPS/Images/frn_fig_005.png





OEBPS/Images/frn_fig_003.png





OEBPS/Images/frn_fig_006.jpg
PENOBSCOT TREATY LANDS

[77 1775: Massachusetts recognizes Penobscot
lands, “beginning at the Head of Tide, on the

Penobscot river, extending six miles on cach
side of said river.”
1796: Penobscots relinquish through treaty the
river corridor up to thirty miles from head of tide
but retain Old Town and Penobscot River islands.
{107 1818: Penobscots relinquish through treaty

" everything except four townships and the Ry
Penobscot River islands upstream of Old Town.
1833: Penobscots relinquish through treaty the
four townships.

TRADITIONAL
TERRITORY

Gy,
Based on Abbe Muscuns map from Bl Nebon,






OEBPS/Images/frn_fig_001.jpg
oP !‘OR GRABS

Timber Pirates, Lumber Barons, and the
Battles over Maine’s Public Lands

THOMAS URQUHART






OEBPS/Images/frn_fig_002.png





